047 O.A. 11-2-93

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SEP 124 1993 REME COURE CLERK, SUI

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

LARRY FUCHS, as Executive Director of the Florida Department of Revenue,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 82,303

KENNETH M. WILKINSON, Property Appraiser of Lee County, Florida,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, LARRY FUCHS, AS EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOSEPH C. MELLICHAMP, III Senior Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar No. 133249

Office of the Attorney General The Capitol- Tax Section Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 487-2142 Fax: (904) 488-5865

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All references to the Record on Appeal will be prefixed with the letter R followed by the appropriate page number, e.g. R-1. References to Amendment 10 or the Amendment or to the amendments to Art. VII, § 4, or Amendment VII, § 4(c)1., (A) and (B), Fla. Const., are interchangeable terms, which mean the same.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 3, 1992, the following amendment to Art.
VII, § 4, Fla. Const. (1968), was approved by a vote of the electorate, (R-1), of the State of Florida:

HOMESTEAD VALUATION LIMITATION

(c) <u>All persons</u> entitled to a homestead exemption under Section 6 of this Article <u>shall have their</u> <u>homestead assessed</u> at just value <u>as of January 1</u> of the year following the effective date of this <u>amendment</u>. <u>This assessment</u> shall change only as provided herein.

1. Assessments subject to this provision shall be changed annually on January 1st of each year; but those changes in assessments shall not exceed the lower of the following:

(A) three percent (3%) of the assessment for the prior year;

(B) the percent change in the Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers, U.S. City Average, all items 1967 = 100, or successor reports for the preceding calendar year as initially reported by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

2. No assessment shall exceed just value.

3. After any change of ownership, as provided by general law, homestead property shall be assessed at just value as of January 1 of the following year. Thereafter, the homestead shall be assessed as provided herein.

4. New homestead property shall be assessed at just value as of January 1st of the year following

the establishment of the homestead. That assessment shall only change as provided herein.

5. Changes, additions, reductions or improvements to homestead property shall be assessed as provided for by general law; provided, however, after the adjustment for any change, addition, reduction or improvement, the property shall be assessed as provided herein.

6. In the event of a termination of homestead status, the property shall be assessed as provided by general law.

7. The provisions of this amendment are severable. If any of the provisions of this amendment shall be held unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, the decision of such court shall not affect or impair any remaining provisions of this amendment. (e.s.)

2. This amendment (hereinafter referred to as "Amendment 10"), contained no provision which expressed an effective date for the amendment once approved.

3. After its approval by the electorate, Amendment 10 was the subject of a memorandum issued on November 5, 1992, to all Florida Property Appraisers and Tax Collectors by the Department of Revenue, Division of Ad Valorem Tax (hereinafter "the Division"). R-3.

4. The Division's memorandum advised the Property Appraisers and Tax Collectors that because Amendment 10 did not contain a specific effective date, the effective date of Amendment 10 is January 5, 1993, "since art. XI, sec. 5(c), Florida Constitution provides for the effective date of amendments to the Constitution on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in January if no other date is specified in the amendment." R-3.

5. Amendment 10 was also the subject of an Attorney General Opinion after its adoption by the electorate. See Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 92-90 (1992). When an amendment to the State's Constitution fails to provide for an effective date then, the effective date is governed by the provisions of Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const.¹

6. On or about February 1, 1993, Kenneth M. Wilkinson, Property Appraiser of Lee County, Florida (hereinafter "Wilkinson" or "the Appellee"), commenced this action in the Twentieth Judicial Circuit in and for Lee County, Florida (hereinafter "the trial court") seeking a declaratory judgment against Larry Fuchs, Executive Director of the Florida Department of Revenue (hereinafter "the Department"). R-1-3.

7. In his complaint, Wilkinson alleged that Amendment 10 was effective when it was approved by the voters at the general election held on November 3, 1992. R-1.

8. Wilkinson also alleged that since Amendment 10 was effective when it was approved by the voters on November 3, 1992, Amendment 10 should have applied to the January 1, 1993, ad valorem tax year. R-1-2.

9. In the alternative, without conceding the effective date as set forth by Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const., which was determined to be Tuesday January 5, 1993, Wilkinson alleged that:

January 5, 1993 is so close in point of time to January 1, 1993 that the Plaintiff should

¹ Kenneth M. Wilkinson, Property Appraiser of Lee County, Florida, requested an official opinion from the Attorney General as to the effective date of Amendment 10 and when the limitation on the increases in homestead valuations contained in Amendment 10 would apply.

be allowed to apply the amendment to his January 1, 1993 ad valorem tax roll.

R-2.

10. On or about February 22, 1993, the Department timely served its Answer to Wilkinson's Complaint. R-4-5.

11. In its Answer, the Department reiterated the Division's November 5, 1992, memorandum and Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 92-90 (1992), stating that since Amendment 10 did not contain a specified date that it would become effective, the effective date of Amendment 10 is January 5, 1993, which was the first Tuesday after the first Monday in January following the election as provided for in Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const. R-5.

12. On or about April 13, 1993, Wilkinson moved the trial court for Summary Judgment, (R-20-33), requesting that the trial court construe Amendment 10 in a way that it would take effect as quickly as possible, by either holding:

(1) that the effective date of the amendment was January 1, 1993, thus capping assessments made after that date . . ., or,

(2) that the cap takes effect as of January 1, 1994, since, under Florida law, homesteads were assessed at just value as of January 1st, 1993.

R-30-31.

13. Subsequently, on or about April 29, 1993, the Department filed its Cross-Motion for Final Summary Judgment. R-35-36.

14. Thereafter, on May 4, 1993, Wilkinson moved the trial court for an order to expedite the cause of action on the grounds that a ruling was needed prior to June 1, 1993. Wilkinson argued that pursuant to § 193.1142, Fla. Stat., Wilkinson's assessment

roll shall be submitted to the Department for approval. Therefore, the trial court's ruling on the effective date of Amendment 10 would determine how Wilkinson's preliminary ad valorem tax roll would be prepared. R-37-38.

15. On or about May 20, 1993, the Department served its Response to Wilkinson's Motion to Expedite and argued that there was no need for expedition of this cause because of the prospective effect of Amendment 10. R-39-42.

16. After notice, On June 21, 1993, the trial court heard Wilkinson's Motion for Summary Judgment and the Department's Cross-Motion for Final Summary Judgment. R-48-62.

17. At the conclusion of the June 21, 1993, hearing the trial court ruled that Amendment 10 could not have a "retrospective effect", stating: "I concur with the view of the Department of Revenue that the amendment cannot have a retrospective effect, so it cannot become effective for the -- in '93. Effective date was January 5th you can't relate back to January 1st." Therefore, the effective date of Amendment 10 is January 5, 1993. R-61.

18. On June 25, 1993, the trial court entered a Final Summary Judgment which provided, in pertinent part, that there is no basis in the language of the amendment for a base year and thus, the "cap" contained in Art. VII, § 4(c)1., (A) and (B), Fla. Const., would be "effective and the limitations in that amendment shall apply as of January 1, 1994." The order made both the effective date and application of the limitation simultaneous. R-76.

19. On July 9, 1993, the Department timely filed its Notice of Appeal. R-77-79. The Appellee filed no cross appeal of the trial court's ruling concerning the retroactive application of Amendment 10 to tax year 1993, or that the amendment was effective on January 5, 1993.

20. On or about July 13, 1993, the Department filed its Suggestion for Certified Review to the Florida Supreme Court, in the Second District Court of Appeal, and on August 2, 1993, the Second District Court of Appeal entered an Order granting the Department's Suggestion for Certified Review to the Florida Supreme Court. R-83.

21. On September 9, 1993, this Court entered an Order accepting jurisdiction of this case, establishing a briefing schedule and setting oral argument.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves two issues: When does Amendment 10, which limits homestead valuation, become effective; and in which tax year does the limitation (cap) on increases in homestead valuation applies. Amendment 10 provides in pertinent part:

> (c) <u>All persons</u> entitled to a homestead exemption under Section 6 of this Article <u>shall have their</u> <u>homestead assessed</u> at just value <u>as of January 1</u> of the year following the effective date of this <u>amendment</u>. <u>This assessment</u> shall change only as provided herein.

1. Assessments subject to this provision shall be changed annually on January 1st of each year; but those changes in assessments shall not exceed the lower of the following. . . . (e.s.)

Amendment 10 was approved by the electorate on November 3, 1992, and did not contain a specific effective date. Where no effective date is set out in the amendment itself, the provisions of Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const., provided that the amendment shall become effective on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in the January following the election. The first Monday in January following the November 3, 1992 election was January 4, 1993, making the effective day of Amendment 10, Tuesday, January 5, 1993.

The absence of an effective date necessitates that the provisions of Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const., control. Therefore, Amendment 10 took effect on January 5, 1993.

The trial court erred in finding that there is no basis in the language of Amendment 10 for a base year in 1994 on which the "cap on value" would prospectively operate. The trial court erred by concluding that the "cap" contained in Amendment 10 would apply as of January 1, 1994, instead of January 1, 1995.

Since the effective date of Amendment 10 is January 5, 1993, it need only be determined whether there is an intervening base year from which the calculations of the "cap" are to be figured prospectively. The issue and, thus, the case can be resolved within the four corners of the Amendment, without resort to speculation about intent.

Amendment 10 simply states that homestead property will be assessed at its just value on January 1, following its effective date and that, in subsequent years, this assessment is subject to the cap.

We know that Amendment 10 became effective January 5, 1993. The first assessment following the effective date is January 1, 1994. The cap is imposed in the year following the homestead's assessment at full value - January 1, 1995.

Thus, under the clear and unambiguous language of Amendment 10, on January 1, 1994, which is the year following the effective date of the amendment (January 5, 1993) all property entitled to homestead exemption shall be assessed at just value. Thereafter, that assessment of the property entitled to a homestead exemption shall only be changed in accordance with the provisions of Art. VII, § 4(c)1., (A) and (B), Fla. Const. That change cannot begin to take place until tax year 1995. Accordingly, January 1, 1995, is the first tax year that the "cap" would be applicable. The trial court erred when it ignored the legal effect of Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const., and pushed the operation of amendment forward by one year.

Why then is this base year assessment on January 1, 1994, so important? The 1994 base year actually contemplated by the Amendment allows sufficient time for the Department to review the rolls and ensure that each and every homestead property is in fact at just value before the cap is put in place. Thereafter, when the "cap" on valuation is applicable any resulting decrease in value will be a product of the cap, not a preexisting failure to assess at just value. Thus, intra-county uniformity will be maximized by the Department's roll oversight function as it relates to equitable sharing of the tax burden within a county and inter-county uniformity as it relates to equitable allocation of school funds throughout the state. <u>See</u> § 236.081(4), Fla. Stat.

Amendment 10 allows one full two-year cycle necessary for an in-depth review of all 67 counties which the Legislature recognized is the means by which to ensure the fair and equitable assessments of all affected homestead property in every county in the State.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THERE IS NO BASIS IN THE LANGUAGE OF AMENDMENT 10 FOR A BASE YEAR VALUATION, THUS THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE LIMITATION, OR CAPS ON VALUE, CONTAINED IN AMENDMENT 10 APPLY AS OF JANUARY 1, 1994.
 - 1. AMENDMENT 10 BECAME EFFECTIVE JANUARY 5, 1993.
 - 2. THE LIMITATION ON INCREASES IN HOMESTEAD VALUATION APPLIES TO THE 1995 TAX YEAR.

HISTORY - BACKGROUND

Prior to being placed on the ballot, Amendment 10 twice underwent judicial review by the Florida Supreme Court. <u>See In</u> <u>Re Advisory Opinion To Attorney General</u>, 581 So. 2d 586 (Fla. 1991), (the Attorney General sought an advisory opinion as to the validity of the initiative petition which proposed Amendment 10.); and, <u>Florida League of Cities v. Smith</u>, 607 So. 2d 397 (Fla. 1992), (association of cities and counties brought a mandamus action seeking the removal of Amendment 10 from the ballot on the grounds that upon its passage a provision of the Constitution would repeal part of the homestead exemption and this was not disclosed on the ballot summary). In both instances the Supreme Court determined that Amendment 10 passed constitutional muster. See 581 So. 2d at 588; and, 607 So. 2d at

² The "cap", "capping" or "limitation" refers to the provisions of Amendment 10 which does not allow the value of a homestead to exceed a specific percentage beginning in the second year after the effective date of the amendment. See Art. VII, § 4(c)1., (A) and (B), Fla. Const.

401. Amendment 10 as presented to the electorate, did not provide for an effective date.³

Although Amendment 10 was approved by the electorate on November 3, 1992, it did not contain a specific effective date. Where no effective date is set out in the amendment itself, the provisions of Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const., control. That article and section states that where there is no effective date in the amendment, then the amendment shall become effective on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in the January following the election. The first Monday in January following the election was January 4, 1993, making the effective day of Amendment 10 Tuesday, January 5, 1993.

January 1 is that date on which the taxable status of all property is to be determined for ad valorem tax purposes.⁴ As of January 1, 1993, the valuation of real property for 1993, had already been determined and property tax liens had arisen. <u>See §</u> 197.122, Fla. Stat. Since Amendment 10 provides that homesteads shall be assessed at just value as of January 1 of the year following the effective date of this amendment and that "<u>[t]his</u> <u>assessment</u> shall change only as provided herein," the trial court

³ Amendment 10 was also the subject of an Attorney General Opinion after its adoption by the electorate. See Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 92-90 (1992). When an amendment to the State's Constitution fails to provide for an effective date then, the effective date is governed by the provisions of Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const.

^{* &}lt;u>See</u> § 192.042(1), Fla. Stat., which requires all real property to be assessed accurately to its just value on January 1 of each year.

erred by failing to recognize the "base year" contemplated by Amendment 10.⁵

1. AMENDMENT 10 BECAME EFFECTIVE JANUARY 5, 1993.

The trial court correctly concluded that Amendment 10 cannot be given retrospective effect to January 1, 1993, since its constitutionally mandated effective date is January 5, 1993. R-61.⁶ Amendment 10 fails to provide for an effective date. The effective date is governed by the provisions of Art. XI, §5, Fla. Const., which provides for submission to the electorate of a proposed amendment to, or revision of the constitution, or any part thereof, by "joint resolution, initiative petition or report of revision commission, constitutional convention or taxation and budget reform commission . . . " Pursuant to Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const.:

> If the proposed amendment or revision is approved by vote of the electors, it shall be effective as an amendment to or revision of the constitution of the state on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in January following the election, or on such other date as may be specified in the amendment or revision.

As noted above, Amendment 10 was approved by the electorate on November 3, 1992.

⁵ "Base year" refers to January 1 of the year following the effective date of Amendment 10 (January 1, 1994), where all persons entitled to a homestead exemption shall have their homestead assessed at just value.

See e.g. State v. Lavazzoli, 434 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 1983); See also Hancock v. Board of Public Instruction, 158 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 1963); and, State ex rel. Reynolds v. Roan, 213 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1968). No cross-appeal was taken on this issue by the Appellee.

Appellee contends that the sponsors intended Amendment 10 to be effective on the date it was approved. No provision supporting this contention is contained in the language of the amendment. Altering the constitutionally prescribed effective date could easily have been accomplished.⁷ For example, the amendment to Art. VI, § 4, Fla. Const., which limits political terms of certain elective offices, and is commonly known as "Eight is Enough," was also proposed by initiative petition and was approved during the November, 1992 general election.⁸ However, that Amendment explicitly states that "[t]his amendment shall take effect on the date it is approved by the electorate" <u>See Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General</u>, 592 So. 2d 225, 226 (Fla. 1991).

This Court has ruled that when an amendment does not specify an effective date, it becomes effective on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in January following the election.⁹

⁸ This Amendment is the subject of a federal action. <u>Plante v.</u> <u>Smith</u>, Case No. 92-40410, Federal District Court, Northern District of Florida.

⁹ <u>Compare</u> <u>Correlis v. State</u>, 78 Fla. 44, 82 So. 601 (1919). Amendment to the 1885 Constitution, which by its terms took effect on the first day of January 1919, became effective on that date and rescued the amendment from the provisions of Art. XVII, Fla. Const. (1885), whereby amendments to the Constitution took effect upon receiving the approval of a majority of votes of the electors at the election; <u>See also</u>, Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 88-60 (1988), stating that inasmuch as the joint resolution to amend Art. VII, § 3, Fla. Const. (1968), to extend the property tax exemption for widows to widowers did not specify an effective

⁷ <u>Compare</u>, the proposed initiative petition to amend Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const., to limit non-economic damages in civil actions. Section 3 of the proposed amendment provided that "[t]his Amendment shall take effect thirty days after the date of the election at which is approved." <u>See</u>, <u>In re Advisory Opinion to</u> <u>Attorney General</u>, 520 So. 2d 284, 286 (Fla. 1988).

Resolution of this issue does not require judicial construction or interpretation of Amendment 10.¹⁰ The Amendment is silent as to its effective date. The trial court correctly concluded that it had no authority to supply words or additional provisions to Amendment 10 as requested by the Appellee.¹¹ The absence of an effective date necessitates that the provisions of Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const., control.

Therefore, Amendment 10 took effect on January 5, 1993.

2. THE LIMITATION ON INCREASES IN HOMESTEAD VALUATION APPLIES TO THE 1995 TAX YEAR.

The trial court erred in finding that there is no basis in the language of Amendment 10 for a base year on which the "cap on value" would prospectively operate. The trial court erred by concluding that the "cap" contained in Amendment 10 would apply as of January 1, 1994.

The following chart outlines the important dates involved in the administration of ad valorem tax assessments of a base year

date, the effective date for the amendment was the first Tuesday after the first Monday in January following the election.

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