I. A. 1/- 2-93
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J WHITE ///
uci 12 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By————————————————————————————————————

LARRY FUCHS, as Executive Director of the Florida Department of Revenue,

Appellant,

VS.

CASE NO. 82,303

KENNETH M. WILKINSON, Property Appraiser of Lee County, Florida,

Appellee.

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, KENNETH M. WILKINSON, PROPERTY APPRAISER OF LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

THEODORE L. TRIPP, JR. Fla. Bar #221856 Garvin & Tripp, P.A. P.O. Drawer 2040 Fort Myers, Florida 33902 (813) 334-1824 FAX (813) 334-6848

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

# TOPICAL

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In November, 1992, the people of Florida adopted a constitutional amendment, by which they "clearly intended ... to limit increases in the assessment of homestead property." That limitation took effect, in its entirety, and became part of the organic law of Florida on January 5, 1993.

By its terms, Amendment 10 limits any change in the assessment of homestead property subject to its provisions. Under Amendment 10, changes in homestead assessments "shall not exceed ... 3% of the assessment for the prior year<sup>1</sup> ... the percent change in the Consumer Price Index ... or just value" Article VII, § 4(c)(1), Florida Constitution.

The trial court determined that the January, 1994, Homestead Assessment should be at "just value", and that "changes in assessments" after January 5, 1993, beginning with the changes resulting from the January, 1994 "just value" assessment, "shall not exceed ..." the Amendment 10 limitation.<sup>2</sup>

Prior to the voters' adoption of Amendment 10, all homestead property in Florida was required to be assessed at "full value" by Constitution, statute and administrative rule.

This "just value" assessment has been subjected to bi-annual reviews by the DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE to ensure a uniform tax roll analysis for over a decade. There is no basis,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The plain language of Amendment 10 limits increases in assessments over "the prior year", regardless of whether that prior year was, or was not, subject to the provisions of Amendment 10. The voters could have provided that the limitation applied to increases in assessments "for the prior year, provided that such prior year was also subject to the provisions of Amendment 10." They did not.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Under Amendment 10, all limitations are based on assessments "for the prior year", not some specified "base year".

in law or in fact, to delay the clear intent of the people of Florida, by refusing to implement all provisions of Amendment 10 as of January 5, 1993. Amendment 10's limitations apply to any change in assessments of homestead property which may occur as of January 1, 1994, or any other year which is "subject to the provisions" of Amendment 10. No change in assessment after January 5, 1993 may exceed the prior year's assessment beyond stated limits.

The trial court so held, and should be affirmed.

# IMPORTANT DATES INVOLVED IN THE ADMINISTRATION OF AD VALOREM TAX ASSESSMENTS UNDER AMENDMENT 10

EVENT(S)

DATE(S)

Over 2,400,000 Florida voters approve Amendment 10 to Article VII, § 4 of the Florida Constitution, which provides that "assessments subject to this provision shall be changed annually on January 1st of each year; but those changes in assessments shall not exceed the ... " limitations imposed by Amendment 10. Art. VII, § 4(c)(1).

November 3, 1992 (Election day)

All Florida homestead property is required to be assessed at "just value". §192.042(1), Fla. Stat.

January 1, 1993 (Tax day)

Amendment 10 becomes effective pursuant to Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const. (1968)

January 5, 1993

All Florida homestead property is required to be assessed at "just value". §192.042(1), Fla. Stat. Because this is an "assessment subject to [Amendment 10's provisions]", any "changes in assessments shall not exceed the lower of ... 3% of the assessment for the prior year [1993] ... the percent change in the Consumer Price Index ... [or] just value." Art. VII, § 4 (c)(1)

January 1, 1994

All Florida homestead property is required to be assessed at "just value". §192.042(1), Fla. Stat. Because this is an "assessment subject to [Amendment 10's provisions]", any "changes in assessments shall not exceed the lower of ... 3% of the assessment for the prior year [1994] ... the percent change in the Consumer Price Index ... [or] just value." Art. VII, § 4 (c)(1)

January 1, 1995

#### **ARGUMENT**

NEITHER THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF AMENDMENT 10, NOR THE CLEAR INTENT OF ITS DRAFTERS, AND THE VOTERS OF FLORIDA, REQUIRES THAT THE PROTECTIONS OF AMENDMENT 10 BE WITHHELD UNTIL JANUARY, 1995.

On November 3, 1992, almost 2,500,000 Florida voters approved an amendment to Article VII, §4 of the Florida Constitution, by which the "drafters ... clearly intended ... to limit the increases in the assessment of homestead property."<sup>3</sup>

That Amendment offered protection to Florida residents, by assuring that unrealized increases<sup>4</sup> in the "just value" of their homestead property, beyond stated limits, would not result in an increase in the tax burden on Florida voters, without action by their elected representatives.<sup>5</sup>

The Appellee, KENNETH WILKINSON,<sup>6</sup> asked the trial court to declare that Amendment 10's protection against uncontrolled increases in the tax burden properly applied to, and controlled, any increase in just value of homestead property as of January

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Florida League of Cities v. Smith, 607 So.2d 397, 401 n.7 (Florida 1992) (Barkett, C.J. concurring). The ballot summary approved by this Court, informed the voters that they were "limiting increases in homestead property valuations for ad valorem tax purposes to a maximum of 3% annually ... " when they voted for, and adopted, Amendment 10. Id. at 398, n. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Under Amendment 10, all homestead property will be assessed, and taxed, at "just value upon a change of ownership, a loss of homestead status", or a "change, alteration, reduction or improvement of the property." Art. VII, § 4(c)(5), Fla. Const.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Tax levels continue to be controlled by elected representatives through adjustment of the millage rate. Compare Art. VII, § 9, Fla. Const.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>KENNETH WILKINSON is the duly elected Property Appraiser of Lee County, Florida, and was the chief proponent of Amendment 10.

1, 1994<sup>7</sup>. The Defendant/Appellant, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE<sup>8</sup>, argued that the voters should be deprived of the benefits of Amendment 10 for over two years after the November, 1992 election, and asked the court below to delay application of its limitations until January 1, 1995.

The trial court properly rejected the Department of Revenue's argument that this intended limitation on the increase in assessments of homestead property should not be realized by the voters for over two years after their ratification of Amendment 10. The lower court correctly determined that all homestead assessments, after January 5, 1993 were "subject to this provision", and therefore the Amendment 10 limitations. This determination is consistent with the plain language and clear intent of the Amendment, and should be affirmed by this Court.

## A. Amendment 10, in its entirety, became effective on January 5, 1993.

Amendment 10, as passed by the voters, did not specify an effective date. Therefore, its effective date is established by applying the provisions of Art. XI, § 5(c) of the Fla. Const.<sup>9</sup>. On January 5, 1993, all of its provisions became part of the organic law of Florida.

If the proposed amendment or revision is approved by vote of the electors, it shall be effective as an amendment to or revision of the Constitution of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Alternatively, the trial court was asked to apply this protection as early as January, 1993. Mr. WILKINSON asserted that, since the first non-holiday following January 1, 1993 fell on Monday, January 4, 1993, only one day prior to the effective date provided by Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const., the Court could legitimately apply its protections to the January, 1993 assessment. That argument was rejected by the trial court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The Appellant, LARRY FUCHS, was named as a Defendant in his position as Executive Director of the FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE. The Appellant will be referred to in this brief as the DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Art. XI, § 5(c), Fla. Const. states:

All assessments of homestead property became "assessments subject to [the] provision[s] of Art. VII, § 4(c), Florida Constitution, and therefore subject to change from the prior year only as permitted by Amendment 10.

When they passed Amendment 10, the Florida voters were aware that they were to "have their homestead assessed at just value as of January 1st of the year following the effective date of [the] Amendment." The voters of the State knew, when Amendment 10 was proposed, and passed, that its provisions continued the existing assessment standard of "just valuation", which had been both constitutionally and statutorily mandated for many years. The clear intent of the voters in 1992 was to limit large "changes" in that just value, brought about by market forces. This potential for unlimited increases in the tax burden, by unanticipated and unrealized changes in "just value", was the evil which Amendment 10 was designed to cure. Therefore, the plain language of the Amendment

State on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in January, following the election, or on such other date as may be specified in the amendment or revision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The Florida Constitution has, for many years, mandated the assessment of homestead property at "just value", subject to defined exemptions. Compare Art. VII, § 4(c), Fla. Const.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Compare §192.042, Fla. Stat. It is hardly "speculation (Appellant's Brief at p. 17) to conclude that homestead property in Florida was assessed at "just value" as of January 1, 1993. Florida law has required assessments at that level for over a decade. Compare §192.001(2), Fla. Stat. (1981), which defines "assessed value of property" as the "just or fair market value of ... property ... pursuant to S.4(a) or S.4(b), Article VII, of the State Constitution ...." §192.011, Fla. Stat., which provides that property appraisers "shall assess all property ... whether such property is ... wholly or partially exempt, ... at its present highest and best use." See also, §193.011, Fla. Stat. (1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>In construing a constitutional provision, the courts should "constantly keep in mind the object sought to be accomplished by its adoption, and the evils, if any, sought to be prevented or remedied." *State ex rel West v. Gray*, 74 So.2d 114, 115 (Fla. 1954).

limited any <u>change</u> in assessed value which were reflected in the assessment of just value "as of the year following the effective date of [the] amendment ..." 1994. Article VII, § 4(c). "This [just value] assessment", for 1994 and all subsequent years, was limited by the voters of Florida, and may change "only as provided" in Amendment 10.<sup>13</sup>

The Department of Revenue concedes that the trial court correctly established the effective date of Amendment 10 at January 5, 1993. (Appellant's Brief at p. 11) If that is so, then assessments at "just value" as of January 1, 1994, will clearly be "assessments subject to [Amendment 10's] provision[s]". Art. VII, § 4(c)(1), Fla. Const. It necessarily follows that changes reflected by the January 1, 1994 "just value" assessment, like assessments thereafter, "shall not exceed the lower of 3% of the assessment for the prior year" (1993), ... "the percentage change in the Consumer Price Index ....or just value" Art. VII, § 4(c)(1). The trial court so ruled.

B. Amendment 10's utilization of "just value" as a basis for its limitation on change is not a new concept.

The DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE's analysis, on which it bases it request to withhold implementation of Amendment 10 for over two years, proceeds on the flawed premise that homestead property in Florida was first required to be assessed at "just value" upon the passage of Amendment 10. They then argue that Amendment 10's "cap is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>It is a "firmly settled principle of law that in 'construing and applying provisions of the Constitution, the leading purpose should be to ascertain and effectuate the intent and the object designed to be accomplished' [citations omitted] and the intention to be ascertained must be that of the framers and the people adopting it, for that intention is the 'spirit' of the Constitution [citations omitted] *State ex rel West v. Gray*, 74 So.2d 114, 115 (Fla. 1954).

imposed in the year following the homestead assessment at full value - January 1, 1995."<sup>14</sup> Obviously, January 1, 1994 is <u>not</u> the first year that homestead property in Florida will be assessed at "just value".

All homestead property in Florida has been required to be assessed at full value for many years. Compare §192.042(1), Fla. Stat., Article VII, § 4, Fla. Const. <sup>15</sup> Indeed, the Appellant, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, is charged, by law, with the duty of "ensuring" the assessment of property at just, or full value. For the past ten years, Florida law required the Department to conduct "no less frequently than once every two years, an in depth review of the assessment rolls of each county." <sup>16</sup> Neither the voters of Florida, nor this court, should assume that the DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE has neglected its duty for the past ten years. Rather, the voters of Florida were entitled to presume, as should this Court, that the assessments of homestead property which occurred on January 1, 1993 were, in fact, at "just value".

The January 1, 1994 "just value" assessment, is, obviously "subject to this provision", Amendment 10. Clearly, that January, 1994 "just value" assessment, and the assessment in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Appellant's Brief at p.8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>§192.042, Fla. Stat. (1991) requires that "all property shall be assessed according to its just value ... on January 1, of each year ...." Article VII, § 4 of the Fla. Const. provides that:

New homestead property shall be assessed at just value as of January 1st of the year following the establishment of the new homestead. That assessment shall only change as provided herein.

Compare §192.001(2), Fla. Stat.(1991), which defines "assessed value of property" to mean an "annual determination of the just or fair market value of an item or property ....".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>§195.096(2), Fla. Stat. (1982)

every subsequent year, "shall change only as provided"<sup>17</sup> in Amendment 10. All assessments after January 5, 1993, are subject to the limitations which are based upon assessments "for the prior year ..."

In summary, the trial court correctly concluded that all homestead property in Florida was assessed at just value as of January 1, 1993. Amendment 10, by its terms, imposed limits on changes in that just valuation "as of January 1 ... [1994,] the year following the effective date of this amendment". That just value assessment, and all subsequent just value assessments of homestead property "shall change only as provided" in, and are subject to the limitations of, Amendment 10 based upon the prior year's assessment.

C. Amendment 10 contains no provision for a "base year", a term which does not appear, expressly or by implication, anywhere within the text of the Amendment approved by the Florida voters.

Since this Court must conclude that the January, 1993 assessment was at "just value", and because "there is no ambiguity in the language of Amendment 10"18, the trial court property rejected the argument that a "base year" with no limitation on changes in "just value" was intended.

THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE asks this Court to add, under the guise of interpretation, language which nowhere appears within the four corners of Amendment 10.

The Department asks this Court to find that "Amendment 10 ... states that homestead

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Change means "to make different in some particular". Miriam Webster Collegiate Dictionary, 190 (10th Edition, 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Appellant's Brief at p.17, citing State ex rel McKay v. Keller, 140 Fla. 346, 191 So. 542 (1949); and City of Jacksonville v. Continental Can Co., 113 Fla. 168, 151 So. 488 (1933).

property will be assessed at its just value on January 1, following its effective date, and that, in subsequent years, this assessment is subject to the cap." The DEPARTMENT reasons that because Amendment 10 became "effective January 5, 1993, ... on January 1, 1994 ... homestead must be assessed at just value. Thereafter, all assessments shall change only as provided in Amendment 10." *Id.* at p. 16-17 [emphasis by the DEPARTMENT].

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